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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, March 31, 2023 2024

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-40429

Paymentus Holdings, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 45-3188251

(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer


Identification No.)

11605 North Community House Road, Suite 300

Charlotte, NC 28277

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(888) 440-4826

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading

Symbol(s)

Name of each exchange on which registered

Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share PAY New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and 

(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted 

pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the 

registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller 

reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting 

company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☒

Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐
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Emerging growth 

company

☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for 

complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒

As of November 1, 2023 May 2, 2024, the registrant had 20,390,502 21,905,543 shares of Class A Common Stock, $0.0001 par 

value per share and 103,306,842 102,266,586 shares of Class B Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share, outstanding.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 (“Quarterly Report”) contains 

forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, such as those under the headings “Risk Factors” and 

“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” which statements involve substantial risks and 

uncertainties. Forward-looking statements may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our 

actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from historical results or from any future results or projections 

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they 

contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “project,” “contemplate,” “believe,” 

“estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our 

expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this report include statements about:

• our ability to effectively manage our growth and expand our operations;

• our ability to further attract, retain and expand our biller, financial institutions, partner and consumer base;

• our ability to timely implement and recognize revenue from new customers;

• our expectations regarding our revenue, expenses and other operating results;

• the impact of widespread health issues any material cybersecurity incident on our reputation as a trusted brand or on our busin
operating results liquidity and financial condition and on our employees, billers, financial institutions, partners, consumers and o
key stakeholders; condition;

• our market opportunity and anticipated trends in our business and industry;

• our ability to remain competitive as we continue to scale our business;

• our ability to develop new product features and enhance our platform;

• our ability to hire and retain experienced and talented employees as we grow our business;

• general economic conditions, including inflation, and their impact on us, consumer demand, average bill amounts and intercha
fees;

• the impact of disruptions or instability in the financial services industry, or perceived or actual liquidity constraints at fina
institutions, on our ability or the ability of our customers and vendors to meet operating expense requirements or to satisfy fina
or other obligations;

• our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of past or future acquisitions or strategic investments in complementary compa
products or technologies and our ability to manage the potential business disruption and diversion of management attention ca
by such acquisitions;

• our ability to maintain and enhance our brand;
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• our ability to integrate, manage and keep our information systems secure;

• our plan to expand into new channels and industry verticals across different markets;

• the impact of widespread health issues on our operating results, liquidity and financial condition and on our employees, bi
financial institutions, partners, consumers and other key stakeholders;

• our international expansion plans and ability to expand internationally; and

• those factors described in the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions
Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and our subsequent Quar
Reports on Form 10-Q, December 31, 2023, and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cond
and Results of Operations” in this Quarterly Report.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this report.

You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-

looking statements primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our 

business, operating results, financial condition and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is 

subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this 

Quarterly Report. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from 

time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements 

contained in this report. We cannot

3

assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual 

results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

3

Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the ultimate outcome of any of these forward-looking statements. 

Moreover, the forward-looking statements made in this report relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We 

undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of 

this report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These 

statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this report, and while we believe such information forms a 

reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate 

that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information.

Certain Definitions

In this report, unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we,” “our,” “us,” “Paymentus,” and the “Company” refer to 

Paymentus Holdings, Inc., and where appropriate its consolidated subsidiaries.

4
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

PAYMENTUS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)

 

            

  

Sept

emb

er 

30,    

Dec

emb

er 

31,     March 31,     December 31,  

   2023     2022     2024     2023  

Assets                        

Current assets                    

Cash and cash equivalents

  $

16

2,0

62     $

14

7,3

34     $ 180,138     $ 179,361  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

   

4,8

30      

2,3

51       4,014       3,834  

Accounts and other receivables, net of allowance for expected credit losses of 

$234 and $370, respectively

   

74,

85

1      

67,

78

9  

Accounts and other receivables, net of allowance for expected credit losses of 

$399 and $435, respectively     84,178       76,389  

Income tax receivable

   

1,9

10      

1,4

93       20       259  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

   

11,

41

5      

9,9

94       11,293       10,505  

Total current assets

   

25

5,0

68      

22

8,9

61       279,643       270,348  

Property and equipment, net

   

1,6

76      

1,8

23       1,575       1,558  
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Capitalized internal-use software development costs, net

   

56,

48

8      

46,

03

2       61,767       58,787  

Intangible assets, net

   

29,

17

9      

36,

01

7       25,137       27,158  

Goodwill

   

13

1,8

52      

13

1,8

51       131,850       131,860  

Operating lease right-of-use assets

   

9,5

96      

9,5

61       9,477       10,027  

Deferred tax asset

   

11

7      

11

6       91       94  

Other long-term assets

   

5,3

65      

7,1

78       4,435       5,031  

Total assets

  $

48

9,3

41     $

46

1,5

39     $ 513,975     $ 504,863  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity                        

Current liabilities                        

Accounts payable

  $

33,

45

0     $

29,

23

2     $ 41,097     $ 35,182  

Accrued liabilities

   

18,

75

9      

15,

80

9       12,334       21,301  

Current portion of operating lease liabilities

   

1,6

69      

1,4

62       1,966       1,853  

Contract liabilities

   

5,6

33      

4,3

58       4,097       4,089  

Income tax payable

    23      

63

5       3,132       363  

Total current liabilities

   

59,

53

4      

51,

49

6       62,626       62,788  

Deferred tax liability

   

95

7      

68

0       1,159       1,067  

Operating lease liabilities, less current portion

   

8,4

20      

8,6

08       8,054       8,661  

Contract liabilities, less current portion

   

2,7

82      

2,8

26       2,752       2,731  
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Finance leases and other finance obligations, net of current portion

   

20

0      

75

0  

Total liabilities

   

71,

89

3      

64,

36

0       74,591       75,247  

Stockholders’ equity                        

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized as 

of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; none issued and 

outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively     —       —  

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 883,950,000 shares 

authorized as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 

20,385,106 and 19,934,331 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 

2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively     2       2  

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 111,050,000 shares 

authorized as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 

103,306,842 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and 

December 31, 2022     10       10  

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized as 

of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively; none issued and 

outstanding as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023     —       —  

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 883,950,000 shares 

authorized as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively; 

21,744,165 and 20,758,603 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 

2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively     2       2  

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 111,050,000 shares 

authorized as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively; 

102,381,811 and 103,062,508 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 

2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively     10       10  

Additional paid-in capital

   

37

5,0

94      

36

7,7

67       380,357       377,773  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     —       (22 )

Accumulated other comprehensive income     45       87  

Retained earnings

   

42,

34

2      

29,

42

2       58,970       51,744  

Total stockholders’ equity

   

41

7,4

48      

39

7,1

79       439,384       429,616  
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Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

  $

48

9,3

41     $

46

1,5

39     $ 513,975     $ 504,863  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

5

 

5

PAYMENTUS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)

 

  

Three Months 

Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months 

Ended September 

30,     Three Months Ended March 31,    

   2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023    

Revenue

  $

152,42

3     $

128,15

2     $

449,6

90     $

364,8

25     $ 184,875     $ 148,328    

Cost of revenue

   

105,51

3       90,295      

316,8

40      

256,2

86       132,150       108,250    

Gross profit

    46,910       37,857      

132,8

50      

108,5

39       52,725       40,078    

Operating expenses                              

Research and development

    11,035       10,350      

33,59

5      

30,92

5       12,051       11,653    

Sales and marketing

    21,481       19,048      

63,34

4      

53,08

9       23,239       20,264    

General and administrative

    9,083       9,376      

26,95

8      

29,03

8       9,092       9,145    

Total operating expenses

    41,599       38,774      

123,8

97      

113,0

52       44,382       41,062    

Income (loss) from operations     5,311       (917 )     8,953       (4,513 )     8,343       (984 )  

Other income (expense)                              

Interest income, net     1,905       504       5,003       594       2,186       1,440    

Foreign exchange (loss) gain     (17 )     (28 )     (32 )     52  
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Income (loss) before income 

taxes     7,199       (441 )    

13,92

4       (3,867 )

Other non-recurring income     213       --    

Foreign exchange gain (loss)     18       (8 )  

Income before income taxes     10,760       448    

(Provision for) benefit from 

income taxes     (822 )     (296 )     (1,004 )     2,397       (3,534 )     256    

Net income (loss)

  $ 6,377     $ (737 )   $

12,92

0     $ (1,470 )

Net income (loss) per share                    

Net income   $ 7,226     $ 704    

Net income per share            

Basic   $ 0.05     $ (0.01 )   $ 0.10     $ (0.01 )   $ 0.06     $ 0.01    

Diluted   $ 0.05     $ (0.01 )   $ 0.10     $ (0.01 )   $ 0.06     $ 0.01    

Weighted-average number of 

shares used to compute net 

income per share

 

       

 

       

 

       

 

Basic  

 

123,62

0,260      

122,74

0,982  

 

 

123,4

30,65

2      

121,7

65,50

9  

 

  123,945,778       123,289,584  

 

Diluted  

 

125,63

9,879      

122,74

0,982  

 

 

124,4

57,36

0      

121,7

65,50

9  

 

  126,917,654       123,792,741  

 

Comprehensive income                                

Net income (loss)  

  6,377       (737 )

 

 

12,92

0       (1,470 )

Net income     7,226       704    

Foreign currency translation 

adjustments, net of tax

 

  (64 )     (86 )

 

  22       (235 )

 

  (42 )     (7 )

 

Comprehensive income (loss)  

$ 6,313     $ (823 )

 

$

12,94

2     $ (1,705 )

Comprehensive income   $ 7,184     $ 697    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PAYMENTUS HOLDINGS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)

(Unaudited)

 

 

       

Ad

diti

on

al        

Oth

er    

To

tal             Additional         Other     Total    

 

 

Common 

Stock    

Pai

d-

In    

Ret

ain

ed    

Co

mp

reh

ens

ive    

St

oc

kh

ol

de

rs’       Common Stock     Paid-In     Retained     Comprehensive     Stockholders’    

 

 

Sh

are

s    

Am

ou

nt    

Ca

pit

al    

Ear

nin

gs    

Inc

om

e 

(Lo

ss)    

Eq

uit

y       Shares     Amount     Capital     Earnings     Income (Loss)     Equity    

Balances 

at 

December 

31, 2022

   

1

2

3,

2

4

1,

1

7

3     $

1

2      

3

6

7,

7

6

7     $

2

9,

4

2

2     $

(2

2 )   $

3

9

7

,

1

7

9    

Balances 

at 

December 

31, 2023     123,821,111     $ 12       377,773     $ 51,744     $ 87     $ 429,616    

Stock-

based 

compensa

tion

    —       —      

2,

1

5

9       —       —      

2

,

1

5

9         —       —       2,484       —       —       2,484    
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Issuance 

of Class A 

common 

stock for 

stock-

based 

awards    

1

0

4,

9

9

1       —       5       —       —       5         304,865       —       100       —       —       100    

Other 

comprehe

nsive 

income 

(loss)     —       —       —       —       (7 )    

(

7 )       —       —       —       —       (42 )     (42 )  

Net 

income

    —       —       —      

7

0

4       —      

7

0

4         —       —       —       7,226       —       7,226    

Balances 

at March 

31, 2023

   

1

2

3,

3

4

6,

1

6

4     $

1

2      

3

6

9,

9

3

1     $

3

0,

1

2

6     $

(2

9 )   $

4

0

0

,

0

4

0    

Stock-

based 

compensa

tion

    —       —      

2,

2

7

6       —       —      

2

,

2

7

6    

Issuance 

of Class A 

common 

stock for 

stock-

based 

awards    

1

6

0,

6

2

5       —      

1

9

6       —       —      

1

9

6    

Other 

comprehe

nsive 

income 

(loss)     —       —       —       —      

9

3      

9

3    
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Net 

income

    —       —       —      

5,

8

3

9       —      

5

,

8

3

9    

Balances 

at June 

30, 2023

   

1

2

3,

5

0

6,

7

8

9     $

1

2      

3

7

2,

4

0

3     $

3

5,

9

6

5     $

6

4     $

4

0

8

,

4

4

4    

Stock-

based 

compensa

tion

    —       —      

2,

4

5

6       —       —      

2

,

4

5

6    

Issuance 

of Class A 

common 

stock for 

stock-

based 

awards    

1

8

5,

1

5

9       —      

2

3

5       —       —      

2

3

5    

Other 

comprehe

nsive 

income 

(loss)     —       —       —       —      

(6

4 )    

(

6

4 )  

Net 

income

    —       —       —      

6,

3

7

7       —      

6

,

3

7

7    
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Balances 

at 

Septembe

r 30, 2023

   

1

2

3,

6

9

1,

9

4

8     $

1

2      

3

7

5,

0

9

4     $

4

2,

3

4

2     $ —     $

4

1

7

,

4

4

8    

Balances 

at March 

31, 2024     124,125,976     $ 12       380,357     $ 58,970     $ 45     $ 439,384    

 

 

7

 

       

Ad

diti

ona

l        

Oth

er    

To

tal           Additional         Other     Total  

 

 

Common 

Stock    

Pai

d-

In    

Ret

ain

ed    

Co

mp

reh

ens

ive    

St

oc

kh

ol

de

rs’     Common Stock     Paid-In     Retained     Comprehensive     Stockholders’  

 

 

Sh

are

s    

Am

ou

nt    

Ca

pita

l    

Ear

nin

gs    

Inc

om

e 

(Lo

ss)    

Eq

uit

y     Shares     Amount     Capital     Earnings     Income (Loss)     Equity  

Balances 

at 

December 

31, 2021

   

1

2

0,

6

3

9,

1

6

1     $

1

2     $

3

5

6,

0

1

7     $

2

9,

9

3

5     $

1

6

8     $

3

8

6

,

1

3

2  
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Balances 

at 

December 

31, 2022     123,241,173     $ 12     $ 367,767     $ 29,422     $ (22 )   $ 397,179  

Stock-

based 

compensa

tion

    —       —      

1,

2

7

6       —       —      

1

,

2

7

6       —       —       2,159       —       —       2,159  

Issuance 

of Class A 

common 

stock for 

stock-

based 

awards    

4

1

2,

2

2

2       —      

1

3       —       —      

1

3       104,991       —       5       —       —       5  

Other 

comprehe

nsive 

income 

(loss)     —       —       —       —      

(4

5 )    

(

4

5 )     —       —       —       —       (7 )     (7 )

Net 

income

    —       —       —      

1,

7

1

8       —      

1

,

7

1

8       —       —       —       704       —       704  

Balances 

at March 

31, 2022

   

1

2

1,

0

5

1,

3

8

3     $

1

2     $

3

5

7,

3

0

6     $

3

1,

6

5

3     $

1

2

3     $

3

8

9

,

0

9

4  

Stock-

based 

compensa

tion

    —       —      

1,

3

4

4       —       —      

1

,

3

4

4  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

16/65

Issuance 

of Class A 

common 

stock for 

stock-

based 

awards    

1,

5

6

8,

7

6

1       —      

2

8

9       —       —      

2

8

9  

Other 

comprehe

nsive 

income 

(loss)     —       —       —       —      

(1

0

4 )    

(

1

0

4 )

Net loss

    —       —       —      

(2

,4

5

1 )     —      

(

2

,

4

5

1 )

Balances 

at June 

30, 2022

   

1

2

2,

6

2

0,

1

4

4     $

1

2     $

3

5

8,

9

3

9     $

2

9,

2

0

2     $

1

9     $

3

8

8

,

1

7

2  

Issuance 

of warrant

    —       —      

3,

4

7

8       —       —      

3

,

4

7

8  

Change in 

estimate 

of 

warrants 

expected 

to vest     —       —      

4

6       —       —      

4

6  
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Stock-

based 

compensa

tion

    —       —      

2,

0

0

2       —       —      

2

,

0

0

2  

Issuance 

of Class A 

common 

stock for 

stock-

based 

awards    

3

6

9,

7

5

8       —      

1,

1

6

7       —       —      

1

,

1

6

7  

Other 

comprehe

nsive 

income 

(loss)     —       —       —       —      

(8

6 )    

(

8

6 )

Net loss

    —       —       —      

(7

3

7 )     —      

(

7

3

7 )

Balances 

at 

Septembe

r 30, 2022

   

1

2

2,

9

8

9,

9

0

2     $

1

2     $

3

6

5,

6

3

2     $

2

8,

4

6

5     $

(6

7 )   $

3

9

4

,

0

4

2  

Balances 

at March 

31, 2023     123,346,164     $ 12     $ 369,931     $ 30,126     $ (29 )   $ 400,040  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

  

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

   2023     2022     2024     2023  

Cash flows from operating activities                    

Net income (loss)   $ 12,920     $ (1,470 )

Net income   $ 7,226     $ 704  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities                        

Depreciation and amortization     22,314       17,518       8,537       7,239  

Deferred income taxes     278       (3,331 )     92       92  

Stock-based compensation     6,891       4,622       2,933       2,159  

Non-cash lease expense     1,346       1,703       506       462  

Amortization of contract asset     2,197       1,347       451       696  

Provision for expected credit losses     (122 )     219  

Provision for (benefit from) expected credit losses     48       (239 )

Other non-recurring income     (213 )     —  

Change in operating assets and liabilities                        

Accounts and other receivables     (6,941 )     (19,143 )     (7,850 )     (8,333 )

Prepaid expenses and other current and long-term assets     (1,797 )     (854 )     (993 )     861  

Accounts payable     4,279       2,975       5,793       3,297  

Accrued liabilities     4,188       2,390       (8,166 )     (2,749 )

Operating lease liabilities     (1,364 )     (1,398 )     (446 )     (469 )

Contract liabilities     1,232       80       28       2,061  

Income taxes receivable, net of payable     (1,034 )     485       3,008       (1,018 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     44,387       5,143       10,954       4,763  

Cash flows from investing activities                        

Other intangible assets acquired     —       (248 )

Purchases of property and equipment     (511 )     (1,163 )     (116 )     (67 )

Purchase of interest-bearing deposits     (723 )     —  

Proceeds from matured interest-bearing deposits     602       —  

Capitalized internal-use software development costs     (25,339 )     (22,257 )     (9,276 )     (8,219 )

Net cash used in investing activities     (25,850 )     (23,668 )     (9,513 )     (8,286 )

Cash flows from financing activities                      

Proceeds from exercise of stock-based awards     435       1,469       100       5  

Financial institution funds in-transit     —       44,158  

Settlement of holdback liability related to prior acquisitions     (506 )     —  
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Payments on other financing obligations     (1,709 )     (2,486 )     —       (1,025 )

Payments on finance leases     (102 )     (201 )     —       (102 )

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (1,376 )     42,940  

Net cash used in financing activities     (406 )     (1,122 )

Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash and cash equivalents and 

Restricted cash     46       (329 )     (78 )     (17 )

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and Restricted cash     17,207       24,086  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash beginning of period     149,685       201,829  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash end of period     166,892     $ 225,915  

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and 

Restricted cash     957       (4,662 )

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash at the beginning 

of period     183,195       149,685  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash at the end of 

period   $ 184,152     $ 145,023  

Reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted Cash:                        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     147,334       168,386  

Restricted cash at beginning of period     2,351       —  

Restricted funds held for financial institutions at beginning of period     —       33,443  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash at beginning of period   $ 149,685     $ 201,829  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     162,062       148,314  

Restricted cash at end of period     4,830       —  

Restricted funds held for financial institutions at end of period     —       77,601  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash at end of period   $ 166,892     $ 225,915  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period     179,361       147,334  

Restricted cash at the beginning of period     3,834       2,351  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash at the beginning 

of period   $ 183,195     $ 149,685  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period     180,138       143,637  

Restricted cash at the end of period     4,014       1,386  

Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash at the end of 

period   $ 184,152     $ 145,023  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                        

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds   $ 1,718     $ 421     $ 434     $ 616  

Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable   $ 16     $ —     $ 87     $ 119  

Prepaid insurance funded through short-term borrowings   $ —     $ 4,425  

Issuance of warrant and change in estimate of warrants expected to vest   $ —     $ 3,524  

Software purchases in accounts payable   $ 16       —  

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange of operating lease obligations   $ 1,356     $ 4,151     $ 97     $ 1,356  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

8

 

9

PAYMENTUS HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Description of Business

Description of Business

Paymentus Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (“Paymentus” or the “Company”) provides electronic bill presentment 

and payment services, enterprise customer communication and self-service revenue management to billers through a Software-as-a-

Service (“SaaS”), secure, omni-channel technology platform. The platform seamlessly integrates into a biller’s core financial and operating 

systems to provide flexible and secure access to payment processing of credit cards, debit cards, eChecks and digital wallets across a 

significant number of channels including online, mobile, IVR, call center, chatbot and voice-based assistants. Paymentus was incorporated 

in the state of Delaware on September 2, 2011 with office locations in Charlotte, North Carolina, Dallas, Texas, Richmond Hill, Ontario 

(Canada), and Delhi and Bangalore (India). The Company is currently headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina.

2.	 Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the United 

States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting. Accordingly, they do not include all 

disclosures normally required in annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. Therefore, these unaudited 

condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 

statements and the related notes included in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 filed 

with the SEC on March 3, 2023 March 5, 2024 (the “2022 “2023 Form 10-K”).

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual 

financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments 

necessary for the fair statement of the Company’s financial position, results of operations and comprehensive income, changes in 

stockholders' equity and cash flows for the periods presented. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 

30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or any other future 

interim or annual period.

Principles of Consolidation
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The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned 

subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates 

include revenue recognition, cost of revenue recognition, the allowance for credit losses, the lives of tangible and intangible assets, the 

valuation of acquired intangible assets and the recoverability or impairment of intangible assets, including goodwill, internal-use software 

development costs, valuation of stock warrants issued, stock-based compensation, and accounting for income taxes. The Company bases 

its estimates on historical experience and also on assumptions that management considers reasonable. The Company assesses these 

estimates on a regular basis; however, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Custodial Accounts

The Company has established a relationship with its merchant processors to act as collection and paying agents, whereby a 

merchant processor receives funds from customers and forwards such funds to the respective Paymentus client, based on the instructions 

received from the Company. These merchant processors act as custodians of the cash received, and the Company has no legal ownership 

rights to the funds held in such custodial accounts and does not control the use of these funds. As the Company does not take ownership 

of the funds, these custodial accounts are not included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The balance of cash in the 

custodial accounts held by these merchant processors was $402.7 427.7 million and $353.9 510.8 million as of September 30, 2023 March 

31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, respectively.

 

10 9

 

Restricted Funds Held for Financial Institutions and Financial Institution Funds In-Transit

Restricted funds held for financial institutions and the corresponding liability of financial institution funds in-transit represent the 

timing differences arising between the amounts the Company's sponsor bank receives from the sending financial institutions and the 

amounts disbursed to the recipient financial institutions. The restricted funds held for financial institutions' account is a transaction account 

maintained at the Company’s sponsor bank for clearing payments from financial institutions (as defined by the U.S. Treasury’s Financial 

Crimes Enforcement Network) to other financial institutions. Restricted funds held for financial institutions represent restricted cash that, 

based upon the Company's intent, are restricted solely for satisfying the corresponding obligations to send funds to the various financial 

institutions. During the fourth quarter 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a financial institution whereby the financial 

institution would take over the legal ownership of these funds and operate as the custodial service provider. Once these funds were moved 

to custodial accounts, the Company no longer had legal ownership or control over these funds, and as such the Company no longer has 

Restricted Funds held for Financial Institutions and Financial Institution Funds In-Transit on the consolidated balance sheet as of 

September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Concentration of Credit Risk
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Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash, cash equivalents and accounts 

receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with high-quality financial institutions with investment-grade ratings. For 

accounts receivable, the Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonpayment by customers and resellers to the extent of the 

amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. No customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue for either of the three and 

nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 December 

31, 2023, one customer accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable. As of March 31, 2024, no customer accounted for more than 

10% of accounts receivable.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated 

regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to make operating decisions, allocate resources and assess 

performance. The Company has three operating segments based on geography. The United States segment represents the vast majority 

of the Company’s consolidated net sales and gross profit. The additional two operating segments, Canada and India, do not meet the 

quantitative thresholds for separate reporting, either individually or in the aggregate. None of the operating segments qualified for 

aggregation. The Company’s CODM is its chief executive officer. The CODM evaluates the performance of the Company’s operating 

segments based on revenue and gross profit. The Company does not analyze discrete segment balance sheet information related to long-

term assets. All other financial information is presented on a consolidated basis. For information regarding the Company’s long-lived 

assets and revenue by geographic area, see Note 5 4 and Note 3, respectively.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2, “Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 and 

for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020 2021 included in the 2022 2023 Form 10-K. There have 

been no significant changes to these policies during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

The Company is provided the option to adopt new or revised accounting guidance as an “emerging growth company” under the 

Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 either (1) within the same periods as those otherwise applicable to public business entities, 

or (2) within the same time periods as non-public business entities, including early adoption when permissible. With the exception of 

standards the Company elected to early adopt, when permissible, the Company has elected to adopt new or revised accounting guidance 

within the same time period as non-public business entities, as indicated below.

Accounting Standards Updates ("ASU") not listed below were assessed and determined to be either not applicable or are not 

expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In October 2021, November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting 

(Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 expands public entities’ segment disclosures by requiring 

disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the CODM and included within each reported measure of 

segment profit or loss, an amount and description of its composition for other segment items, and interim disclosures of a reportable 

segment’s profit or loss and assets. All disclosure requirements under ASU 2023-07 are also required for public entities with a single 

reportable segment. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 are effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
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2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating 

the potential impact of adopting this new guidance on our condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting 2023-09 "Income Tax 

Disclosures", which makes changes to annual disclosures of income taxes paid for Contract Assets all entities and Contract Liabilities from 

Contracts with Customers” (“ASU 2021-08”) requires entities to disclose the amount of income taxes paid, net of refunds received, 

disaggregated by federal, state and foreign jurisdiction. Additionally, entities are required to disclose income taxes paid, net of refunds 

received, for individual jurisdictions that comprise 5% or more of total income taxes paid. The 5% threshold is evaluated using the absolute 

value of the net refund or net payment in each jurisdiction compared to the absolute value of the total income taxes paid (net of refunds 

received). ASU 2021-08 will require companies 2023-09 requires all entities to apply the definition of a performance obligation under ASU 

2014-09, Revenue disclose disaggregated domestic and foreign pre-tax income (or loss) from contracts continuing operations along with 

customers (“Topic 606”) to recognize disaggregated income tax expense (or benefit) by federal, state and measure contract assets and 

contract liabilities relating to contracts with customers that are acquired in a business combination. Under current U.S. GAAP, an acquirer 

generally recognizes assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, including contract assets and contract liabilities 

arising from revenue contracts with customers, at fair value foreign components. Such disaggregation by jurisdiction should classify taxes 

by jurisdiction based on the acquisition date. jurisdiction imposing the taxes. The amendments in ASU 2021-08 will result in 2023-09 are 

effective for fiscal years

10

beginning after December 15, 2024 for public companies. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the acquirer recording 

acquired contract assets and liabilities potential impact of adopting this new guidance on the same basis that would have been recorded by 

the acquiree before the acquisition under ASU Topic 606. The Company adopted this ASU on January 1, 2023, and its adoption did not 

have a material impact on its our condensed consolidated financial statements. statements and related disclosures.

11

3.	 Revenue, Performance Obligations and Contract Balances

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table presents a disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (in thousands):

  

Three Months 

Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,   Three Months Ended March 31,  

   2023     2022     2023     2022       2024     2023  

Payment transaction 

processing revenue   $

150,50

0     $

126,37

3     $

443,56

5     $

359,84

6       $ 182,752     $ 146,388  

Other     1,923       1,779       6,125       4,979         2,123     $ 1,940  

Total revenue

  $

152,42

3     $

128,15

2     $

449,69

0     $

364,82

5       $ 184,875     $ 148,328  
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Revenue by geographic area, based on the location of the Company’s users, was as follows (in thousands):

  

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

   2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

United 

States   $ 149,526     $ 125,655     $ 441,029     $ 357,088     $ 181,301     $ 145,557  

Other     2,897       2,497       8,661       7,737       3,574       2,771  

Total   $ 152,423     $ 128,152     $ 449,690     $ 364,825     $ 184,875     $ 148,328  

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are 

unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied was $8.4 6.8 million, of which the Company expects to recognize over 79 75% within the next two years, 

18 19% between two to four years and the remainder thereafter. The timing of revenue recognition within the next four years is largely 

dependent upon the go-live dates of the Company's customers under the Company’s contracts.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company has contractual rights under its commercial agreements with customers 

and resellers to receive $48.1 51.2 million of fixed consideration related to the future minimum guarantees through 2026. As permitted, the 

Company has elected to exclude from this disclosure any variable consideration that meets specified criteria. Accordingly, the total 

unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations related to processing services is significantly higher than the amount disclosed.

Contract Balances

Contract balances consist of the following:

  

September 

30,    

December 

31,       March 31,     December 31,  

   2023     2022       2024     2023  

Contract Assets                    

Costs to fulfill (prepaid expenses and other current 

assets)   $ 2,893     $ 2,732       $ 2,893     $ 2,893  

Costs to fulfill (other long-term assets)     5,154       6,929         4,189       4,783  

Total contract assets   $ 8,047     $ 9,661       $ 7,082     $ 7,676  

Contract Liabilities                    

Contract liabilities   $ 5,633     $ 4,358    

Contract liabilities, less current portion     2,782       2,826    

Contract liabilities, Current   $ 4,097     $ 4,089  

Contract liabilities, Non-current     2,752       2,731  

Total contract liabilities   $ 8,415     $ 7,184       $ 6,849     $ 6,820  

During the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the Company reduced revenue and the as a 

result of amortization of related contract assets by $0.8 0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 

30, 2023 and 2022, the Company reduced revenue and the related contract assets by $2.2 million and $1.3 0.7 million, respectively.
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Revenue recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 that was included in the 

contract liabilities balance at the beginning of each of the periods was $0.5 0.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively. Revenue recognized 

during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 that was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of each 

of the periods was $1.4 million and $0.6 0.7 million, respectively.

11

 

12

4.	 Business Combinations

PROFIT Financial, Inc.

On December 19, 2022, the Company completed its acquisition of PROFIT Financial, Inc. (“PROFIT”) by acquiring all outstanding 

shares of PROFIT for a total purchase price of approximately $4.3 million, net of cash acquired, comprised of $3.3 million cash of which 

$0.1 million is included as a short term payable at December 31, 2022 and $0.6 million is being held back by the Company for a period of 

12 to 24 months following the transaction close date and is recorded in finance leases and other finance obligations, net of current portion 

in the consolidated balance sheets. PROFIT is a financial and accounting software company with offerings to small business. The 

acquisition of PROFIT is expected to increase market opportunities for the Company's existing solutions while enhancing the PROFIT 

platform.

The Company will record adjustments to the fair value of net assets acquired and goodwill within 12 months of the measurement 

period, if necessary. There were no measurement period adjustments to the purchase price allocation during the three and nine months 

ended September 30, 2023.

The revenue and expenses of PROFIT have been included in the Company's consolidated financial results since the acquisition 

date. Pro forma results of operations related to the acquisition have not been presented for the three and nine months ended September 

30, 2022 because the effects of this acquisition were not material to the Company's overall operations.

5. 4.	Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

   September 30,     December 31,     March 31,     December 31,  

   2023     2022     2024     2023  

Computer equipment   $ 5,955     $ 5,476     $ 6,131     $ 6,059  

Furniture and fixtures     1,672       1,672       1,793       1,715  

Leasehold improvements     391       419       390       396  

Total property and equipment     8,018       7,567       8,314       8,170  

Less: Accumulated depreciation     (6,342 )     (5,744 )     (6,739 )     (6,612 )

Property and equipment, net   $ 1,676     $ 1,823     $ 1,575     $ 1,558  
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Depreciation expense recorded for property and equipment was $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the three months ended September 

30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively, and $0.7 million and $1.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 

2022, 2023, respectively.

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, net. The geographic locations of the Company’s long-lived assets, net, based on 

physical location of the assets were as follows (in thousands):

   September 30,   December 31,     March 31,   December 31,  

   2023     2022     2024     2023  

United States   $ 627     $ 706     $ 626     $ 558  

Other     1,049       1,117       949       1,000  

Total   $ 1,676     $ 1,823     $ 1,575     $ 1,558  

 

6. 5.	Goodwill, Internal-use Software Development Costs and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reporting unit were as follows (in thousands):

   

United


States     Other     Total  

Balance as of December 31, 2022   $ 131,028     $ 823     $ 131,851  

Foreign currency translation adjustments     —       1       1  

Balance as of September 30, 2023   $ 131,028     $ 824     $ 131,852  

13

   

United


States     Other     Total  

Balance as of December 31, 2023   $ 131,028     $ 832     $ 131,860  

Foreign currency translation adjustments     —       (10 )     (10 )

Balance as of March 31, 2024   $ 131,028     $ 822     $ 131,850  

Internal-use Software Development Costs

During the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the Company capitalized $8.7 9.3 million and 

$7.8 million in software development and implementation costs, respectively, and during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 

2022, the Company capitalized $25.3 million and $22.3 8.1 million in software development and implementation costs, respectively.

During the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the Company recorded $3.5 4.0 million and 

$2.4 2.7 million of amortization expense in cost of revenue, respectively, and $2.0 2.3 million and $1.4 million of amortization expense in 

operating expenses, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $9.5 million and 

$6.1 million of amortization expense in cost of revenue, respectively, and $5.8 million and $4.3 2.0 million of amortization expense in 

operating expenses, respectively.

Intangible Assets
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Intangible assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

    March 31, 2024  

   

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulated


Amortization    

Net


Carrying


Amount  

Technology   $ 21,832     $ (15,880 )   $ 5,952  

License     2,509       (2,509 )     —  

Customer relationship     31,989       (14,281 )     17,708  

Software     449       (417 )     32  

Trademark     4,038       (2,593 )     1,445  

Total   $ 60,817     $ (35,680 )   $ 25,137  

 

    September 30, 2023  

   

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulated


Amortization    

Net


Carrying


Amount  

Technology   $ 21,834     $ (13,997 )   $ 7,837  

License     2,519       (2,519 )     —  

Customer relationship     31,992       (12,649 )     19,343  

Software     450       (402 )     48  

Trademark     4,038       (2,087 )     1,951  

Total   $ 60,833     $ (31,654 )   $ 29,179  

                   

12

 

    December 31, 2022  

   

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulated


Amortization    

Net


Carrying


Amount  

Technology   $ 22,631     $ (11,965 )   $ 10,666  

License     2,503       (2,503 )     —  

Customer relationship     33,788       (11,695 )     22,093  

Software     1,212       (661 )     551  

Trademark     4,238       (1,531 )     2,707  
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Total   $ 64,372     $ (28,355 )   $ 36,017  

 

    December 31, 2023  

   

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulated


Amortization    

Net


Carrying


Amount  

Technology   $ 21,845     $ (14,951 )   $ 6,894  

License     2,568       (2,568 )     —  

Customer relationship     32,006       (13,480 )     18,526  

Software     451       (411 )     40  

Trademark     4,038       (2,340 )     1,698  

Total   $ 60,908     $ (33,750 )   $ 27,158  

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $2.1 2.0 million and $2.0 2.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively, and $6.4 million and $6.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 

2022, 2023, respectively.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, future expected amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,            

2023 (remaining three months)   $ 2,021  

2024     8,082  

2024 (remaining 9 months)     6,062  

2025     6,620       6,620  

2026     3,738       3,737  

2027     3,269       3,269  

2028     3,269  

Thereafter     5,449       2,180  

Total future amortization expense   $ 29,179     $ 25,137  

There were no impairments of goodwill, internal-use software development costs or intangible assets in the three or nine months 

ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.
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7. 6.	Accrued Liabilities

The composition of accrued liabilities is as follows (in thousands):

   September 30,     December 31,     March 31,     December 31,  

   2023     2022     2024     2023  

Payroll and employee-related expenses   $ 12,523     $ 9,214     $ 7,610     $ 15,455  

Finance leases and other financing obligations     —       1,813  

Other accrued liabilities     6,236       4,782       4,724       5,846  
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Total   $ 18,759     $ 15,809     $ 12,334     $ 21,301  

As of December 31, 2022, finance leases and other financing obligations included the then current portion of finance leases related 

to the acquisition of computer equipment and short-term insurance premium financing arrangements. As of September 30, 2023 the 

Company no longer had any finance leases or insurance premium financing arrangements.

8. 7.	Commitments and Contingencies

Other Commitments

The Company has entered into certain non-cancellable agreements for software and marketing services that specify all significant 

terms, including fixed or minimum services to be used, pricing provisions and the approximate timing of the transaction. Obligations under 

contracts that are cancellable or with remaining terms of 12 months or less are not included. There have been no material changes to the 

Company's contractual obligations or commitments outside of the ordinary course of business as compared to those described in the 

2022 2023 Form 10-K.

Legal Matters

The Company is involved from time to time in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While 

it is not feasible to predict or determine the ultimate outcome of these matters, the Company believes that, as of September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024, none of its no current claims and legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its financial position, 

results of operations, or cash flows.

Indemnification

The Company enters into indemnification provisions under agreements with other parties in the ordinary course of business, 

including business partners, investors, contractors, customers, and the Company’s officers, directors, and certain employees. The 

Company has agreed to indemnify and defend the indemnified party claims and related losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified 

party from actual or threatened third-party claims due to the Company’s activities or

13

non-compliance with obligations or representations made by the Company. The Company seeks to limit, or cap, its indemnification 

exposure in its commercial and other contracts. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential loss under these indemnification 

provisions due to the Company’s limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each 

particular provision.

9. 8. Equity

Warrant

On May 13, 2021, the Company entered into a warrant agreement with JPMC Strategic Investments I Corporation (“JPMC”), an 

affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, an underwriter in our 2021 initial public offering ("IPO"), pursuant to which the Company agreed to 

issue a warrant to JPMC for up to 509,370 shares of Class A common stock upon completion of the IPO at an exercise price of $18.38 per 

share (the “May 2021 warrant” warrant agreement”). Upon completion of the IPO, 382,027 of the warrant shares vested and were 
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exercisable. The vesting of the remaining 127,343 shares of Class A common stock underlying the warrant will be subject to the 

achievement of certain commercial milestones through December 31, 2025 pursuant to a related commercial agreement with JPMorgan 

Chase Bank, National Association (“JPM Chase”), an affiliate of JPMC. As discussed below, this commercial agreement was amended in 

August 2022, and the achievement of certain commercial milestones was extended through December 31, 2026 and minimum revenue 

commitments were set for each of the calendar years through 2026. On December 31, 2021 and 2022, As of March 31, 2024, 

15,917 448,880 warrant shares and 19,101 warrant shares, respectively, were vested and were exercisable under the May 2021 warrant. 

Consistent with classification guidance in ASU Topic 606, the Company accounts for the consideration payable in the form of warrants to a 

customer as a reduction of the transaction price and, therefore, of revenue as the revenue is earned. The warrant fair value was 

determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation.

During 2021, the Company updated the May 2021 warrant value recognized based on the expectation that the probability of 

achievement of certain milestones would be achieved. The increase was recorded using the fair value determined at the time of grant

15

multiplied by the estimated number of remaining warrants expected to vest. This increase was recorded as additional paid-in capital and as 

a contract asset included in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 

The increase made to the May 2021 warrant valuation in 2022 was not material. agreement.

On August 29, 2022, the Company entered into a second warrant agreement with JPMC, in connection with an amendment to the 

Company's existing commercial agreement with JPM Chase discussed above, pursuant to which the Company issued a warrant to JPMC 

for up to 684,510 shares of Class A common stock at an exercise price of $10.10 per share (the “August 2022 warrant agreement”). Upon 

signing the August 2022 warrant agreement, 171,128 of the warrant shares vested and were exercisable. The vesting of the remaining 

513,382 shares of Class A common stock underlying the warrant will be subject to the achievement of certain commercial milestones 

through December 31, 2026 pursuant to the commercial agreement, as amended. As of March 31, 2024 there were no additional warrant 

shares vested under the August 2022 warrant agreement.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, an aggregate of 588,173 620,008 warrants had vested and were exercisable under the 

outstanding warrant agreements.

The Company accounts for the consideration payable in the form of warrants to its vendor as share based compensation expense. 

The warrant fair value was determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock 

Compensation.

10. 9.	 Stock-Based Compensation

In May 2021, the Company’s board of directors (the "Board") adopted, and its stockholders approved, the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 

(the “2021 Plan”), which became effective in connection with the IPO. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, 

within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC"), to the Company’s employees and any of its parent or subsidiary 

corporations’ employees, and for the grant of non-statutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, 

and performance awards to the Company’s employees, directors and consultants and any of its parent or subsidiary corporations’ 

employees and consultants. A total of 10,459,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock have been reserved for issuance under 

the 2021 Plan in addition to (i) an annual increase of 4% of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, with Class A and 

Class B common stock taken together, on the first day of each fiscal year, subject to the Compensation Committee of the Board exercising 

discretion to increase or decrease such amount (the “Evergreen Addition”), and (ii) upon the expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or 

reacquisition of any shares of Class B common stock underlying outstanding stock awards granted under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, 

an equal number of shares of Class A common stock, such number of shares not to exceed 7,563,990. On January 1, 2023 January 1, 
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2024, pursuant to the Evergreen Addition, approximately 4,929,646 5.0 million shares of Class A common stock were added to the 2021 

Plan issuance reserve. At September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there were approximately 17,834,251 21.7 million remaining shares 

available for the Company to grant under the 2021 Plan.

14

Stock Options

A summary of the Company’s option activity during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was as follows 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

                Weighted-        

          Weighted-     Average        

          Average     Remaining     Aggregate  

    Options     Exercise Price     Contractual     Intrinsic  

    Outstanding     per Share     Life (years)     Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2022     4,155,640     $ 7.52       5.87     $ 4,420  

Options granted     —       —              

Options exercised     (131,500 )     3.31              

Options forfeited     (34,146 )     8.73              

Options expired     (84,660 )     0.03              

Outstanding at September 30, 2023     3,905,334     $ 7.82       5.29     $ 34,306  

Exercisable at September 30, 2023     3,606,020     $ 7.74       5.25     $ 31,947  

              Weighted-        

        Weighted-     Average        

        Average     Remaining     Aggregate  

  Options     Exercise Price     Contractual     Intrinsic  

  Outstanding     per Share     Life (years)     Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023   3,849,350     $ 7.87       5.06     $ 38,505  

Options exercised   (67,746 )     1.44              

Options forfeited   (1,333 )     8.66              

Outstanding at March 31, 2024   3,780,271     $ 7.98       4.85     $ 55,817  

Exercisable at March 31, 2024   3,732,980     $ 7.97       4.83     $ 55,161  

ThereNo options were no options granted  or expired during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. March 

31, 2024. Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price of the options and the fair value of the Company’s 

common stock.
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Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)

A summary of the Company’s RSU activity during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was as 

follows: follows:

      

Weigh

ted-       Weighted-  

      

Avera

ge       Average  

   Number of  

Grant 

Date   Number of   Grant Date  

  

RSUs 

Outstandin

g    

Fair 

Value   RSUs Outstanding     Fair Value  

Awarded and unvested at 

December 31, 2022     1,362,420     $

18.0

3  

Awarded and unvested at 

December 31, 2023   1,946,006     $ 12.74  

Awards granted     1,145,613       9.21     995,548       19.20  

Awards vested     (319,275 )    

17.9

1     (235,619 )     11.42  

Awards forfeited     (152,707 )    

19.8

2     (25,580 )     9.89  

Awarded and unvested at 

September 30, 2023     2,036,051     $

12.9

5  

Awarded and unvested at 

March 31, 2024   2,680,355     $ 15.28  

The fair value of RSU grants is determined based upon the market closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock on the 

date of grant. RSUs vest over the requisite service period, which generally ranges between four years and five years from the date of grant 

for employees and one to three years for directors, subject to continued employment for employees and provision of services for 

nonemployees.

Stock-based compensation expense included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows (in 

thousands): follows:

 

Three Months 

Ended March 

31,  

  

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months Ended September 

30,     2024     2023  

   2023     2022     2023     2022     (in thousands)  
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Cost of revenue   $ 36     $ —     $ 110     $ —     $ 51     $ 45  

Operating expenses                  

Research and development     484       507       1,492       1,080       608       546  

Sales and marketing     690       612       2,096       1,062       1,310       716  

General and administrative     1,246       883       3,193       2,480       964       852  

Total stock-based compensation   $ 2,456     $ 2,002     $ 6,891     $ 4,622     $ 2,933     $ 2,159  

At September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there was $0.8 0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested 

stock options granted under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period 

of 0.8 1.4 years.

At September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there was $24.2 38.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested 

RSUs granted under the 2021 Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 3.1 3.8 years.

11. 10.	 Income Taxes

The Company computes its tax provision for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 by applying the year-to-

date actual estimated annual effective tax rate to year-to-date income from recurring operations as the best estimate of its annual effective 

tax rate. and adjusting for discrete items arising in that quarter. The Company continues to record a valuation allowance against its net 

deferred tax assets (“DTA”) in the U.S. as it is not more likely than not to be realized given a history of near break-even operations and 

prior year the significant tax deductions for stock-based compensation. compensation recognized in previous years that have created 

cumulative losses in recent years.

15

The Company’s effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2023 was 11.4 32.8% 

and (7.2 57.9)%, respectively. The difference between the Company’s effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% in 2024 

was primarily the result of permanent differences for disallowed stock-based compensation pursuant to IRC Section 162(m), state taxes 

and the impact of the full valuation allowance recorded against the Company's net U.S., deferred tax assets.

The Company’s effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 was (65.2)% and 62.3%, respectively. The

difference between the Company's effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% allowance. In 2023, it was primarily the 

result of near break-even pre-tax operating results, excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation, income from operations, state taxes 

and the impact of the full valuation allowance and other permanent adjustments in addition to a return to provision benefit recorded against 

the Company’s net US deferred tax assets, state taxes, foreign income taxed at different rates and permanent tax adjustments related in 

connection with a change in estimate of costs required to nondeductible executive compensation. be capitalized under IRC Section 174.

12. 11.	 Net Income per Share Attributable to Common Stock

Basic net income per share attributable to common stock is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding during the period.
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Diluted net income per share attributable to common stock is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common stock 

equivalents to the extent they are dilutive. The dilutive effect of outstanding options, RSUs and warrants is reflected in diluted net

17

income per share attributable to common stock by application of the treasury stock method. The calculation of diluted net income per share 

attributable to common stock excludes all anti-dilutive common shares.

The rights of the holders of Class A and Class B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion. As the 

liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis to each class of common 

stock and the resulting basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders are, therefore, the same for both Class 

A and Class B common stock on both an individual and combined basis.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stock (in thousands 

except share and per share data):

  

Three Months 

Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,   Three Months Ended March 31,  

   2023     2022     2023     2022       2024     2023  

Numerator:                                  

Net income (loss)   $ 6,377     $ (737 )   $ 12,920     $ (1,470 )  

Net income   $ 7,226     $ 704  

Denominator:                                      

Weighted-average shares 

of common stock — basic    

123,62

0,260      

122,74

0,982      

123,43

0,652      

121,76

5,509         123,945,778       123,289,584  

Dilutive effect of stock 

options to purchase 

common stock    

1,548,6

80       —      

868,92

2       —         2,141,741       486,286  

Dilutive effect of RSUs

   

429,86

3       —      

153,33

0       —         754,844       16,871  

Dilutive effect of warrants     41,076       —       4,456       —         75,291       —  

Weighted-average shares 

of common stock — 

diluted    

125,63

9,879      

122,74

0,982      

124,45

7,360      

121,76

5,509         126,917,654       123,792,741  

Net income (loss) per share                          

Net income per share            

Basic   $ 0.05     $ (0.01 )   $ 0.10     $ (0.01 )     $ 0.06     $ 0.01  

Diluted   $ 0.05     $ (0.01 )   $ 0.10     $ (0.01 )     $ 0.06     $ 0.01  

The following table summarizes the weighted average securities that were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per 

share attributable to common stock as their inclusion would have been antidilutive:

  

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  
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   2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

Stock options to 

purchase common 

stock     —      

4,705,32

3       103,804      

5,693,39

8       —       3,594,345  

RSUs

   

580,10

2      

1,396,81

0      

1,149,85

3       860,848       457,373       1,319,253  

Warrants

   

417,04

5       428,803       417,045       418,630       448,881       588,173  

 

 

18 16

 

 

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Operations

Overview

We are a leading provider of cloud-based bill payment technology and solutions. We deliver our next-generation product suite 

through a modern technology stack to more than 1,900 2,200 biller business and financial institution clients. Our platform was used by 

approximately 27 million 34 million consumers and businesses in North America in December 2022 2023 to pay their bills, make money 

movements and engage with our clients. We serve billers of all sizes that primarily provide non-discretionary services across a variety of 

industry verticals, including utilities, financial services, insurance, government, telecommunications, real estate management, and 

healthcare. We also serve financial institutions by providing them with a modern platform that their customers use for bill payment,

account-to-account transfers and person-to-person transfers. By powering this comprehensive network of billers and financial institutions, 

each with their own set of bill payment requirements, we believe we have created an enviable feedback loop that enables us to 

continuously drive innovation, grow our business and uniquely improve the electronic bill payment experience for participants in the bill 

payment ecosystem.

Our platform provides our clients with easy-to-use, flexible and secure electronic bill payment experiences powered by an omni-

channel payment infrastructure that allows consumers to pay their bills using their preferred payment type and channel. Because our biller 

platform is developed on a single code base and leverages a SaaS infrastructure, we can rapidly deploy new features and tools to our 

entire biller base simultaneously. Through a single point of integration to our billers’ core financial and operating systems, our mission-

critical solutions provide our billers with a payments operating system that helps them collect revenue faster and more profitably and 

empower their consumers with the information and transparency needed to control their finances.

Transactions Processed

  Three Months Ended September 30,     Nine Months Ended September 30,  

  2023     2022     % Growth     2023     2022     % Growth  

  (in millions)           (in millions)        
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Transactions processed   115.4       92.2       25.2 %     333.4       269.6       23.7 %

  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2024     2023     % Growth  

  (in millions)        

Transactions processed   135.3       108.5       24.7 %

We define transactions processed as the number of revenue generating payment transactions, such as checks, credit card and debit 

card transactions, automated clearing house, or ACH, items and emerging payment types, which are initiated and generally processed 

through our platform during a period. The number of transactions also includes account-to-account and person-to-person transfers. The 

number of transactions processed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 increased approximately 

25.2% and 23.7%, respectively, 24.7% as compared to the same periods period in 2022. 2023. The increase was primarily driven by the 

addition of new billers and financial institutions and increased transactions from our existing billers and financial institutions.

Other Key Factors and Trends Affecting Our Operating Results

The discussion below includes a number of forward-looking statements regarding our future performance. For a discussion of 

important factors, including the continuing development of our business and other factors which could cause actual results to differ 

materially from matters referred to below, see the discussions under “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking 

Statements” herein and in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 or the “2022 “2023 Form 10-K” and 

our subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. .

Impact of Economic and Inflationary Trends

In 2022 and continuing into Although inflationary pressures lessened to some extent in the second half of 2023, we did experience 

more normalized inflationary increases during the United States economy has experienced inflationary conditions, increased interest rates 

and consecutive quarters of decreased gross domestic product. While we believe our business is resilient and can generally weather 

unusual levels of inflation, quarter ended March 31, 2024. However, the economic uncertainty and continuing inflationary pressures, 

which conditions continue to remain high and could have been particularly acute in an adverse impact on our performance during the utility 

sector, impacted our fiscal 2022 and first half remainder of 2023 financial performance and are expected to impact our 2023 financial 

performance. 2024. Inflationary pressure is resulting in higher average bills, particularly in the utility sector, and increased interchange fees. 

While Where appropriate, we are seeking seek to adjust our prices to address the inflationary pressures, however our ability to do so 

typically lags behind the impact of inflation on our clients, clients. While we made several price adjustments in 2023 as a result of the 

increase in average bill amounts and increased interchange fees. We intend to inflationary impacts on our business, we will continue to 

monitor and manage through this uncertain the economic environment in 2024 by working closely with clients on implementations and 

further price adjustments. adjustments as necessary.

Non-GAAP Measures

We use supplemental measures of our performance that are derived from our consolidated financial information but which are not 

presented in our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. 

These supplemental non-GAAP measures include contribution profit, adjusted gross profit, adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow.

Contribution Profit
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We calculate contribution profit as gross profit plus other cost of revenue. Other cost of revenue equals cost of revenue less 

interchange and assessment fees paid by us to our payment processors.

Adjusted Gross Profit

We calculate adjusted gross profit as gross profit adjusted for non-cash items, primarily stock-based compensation and amortization 

of acquisition-related intangible assets and capitalized software development costs.

Adjusted EBITDA

We calculate adjusted EBITDA as net income before other income (expense) (which consists of interest income (expense)) , net, 

other non-recurring income), depreciation and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets and capitalized software development 

costs, and income taxes, adjusted to exclude the effects of net and foreign exchange gain (loss), stock-based compensation expense and 

certain nonrecurring expenses that management believes are not indicative of ongoing operations.

Free Cash Flow

We calculate free cash flow as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less capital expenditures, other intangible assets 

acquired, and capitalized internal-use software development costs.

How we use Non-GAAP Measures

We use non-GAAP measures to supplement financial information presented on a GAAP basis. We believe that excluding certain 

items from our GAAP results allows management and our board of directors to more fully understand our consolidated financial 

performance from period to period and helps management project our future consolidated financial performance as forecasts are 

developed at a level of detail different from that used to prepare GAAP-based financial measures. Moreover, we believe these non-GAAP 

measures provide our investors with useful information to help them evaluate our operating results by facilitating an enhanced 

understanding of our operating performance and enabling them to make more meaningful period-to-period comparisons. In particular, we 

exclude interchange and assessment fees in the presentation of contribution profit because we believe inclusion is less directly reflective of 

our operating performance as we do not control the payment product or channel used by consumers, which is the primary determinant of 

the amount of interchange and assessment fees. We use contribution profit to measure the amount available to fund our operations after 

interchange and assessment fees, which are directly linked to the number of transactions we process and thus our revenue and gross 

profit. There are limitations to the use of the non-GAAP measures presented in this report. Our non-GAAP measures may not be 

comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies; other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate non-

GAAP measures differently than we do, limiting the usefulness of those measures for comparative purposes. These non-GAAP measures 

should not be considered in isolation from or as a substitute for financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

We also urge you to review the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures included below. To properly and prudently 

evaluate our business, we encourage you to review the condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included 

elsewhere in this report and to not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

Contribution Profit

  Three Months Ended September 30,     Nine Months Ended September 30,    

  2023     2022     2023     2022    

  (in thousands)    

 Gross Profit $ 46,910     $ 37,857     $ 132,850     $ 108,539    
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Plus: other cost of revenue   14,583       13,277       41,764       38,704    

Contribution Profit $ 61,493     $ 51,134     $ 174,614     $ 147,243    

  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2024     2023  

  (in thousands)  

 Gross profit $ 52,725     $ 40,078  

Plus: other cost of revenue   16,642       13,453  

Contribution profit $ 69,367     $ 53,531  

In general, contribution profit is driven by the number of transactions we process offset by network fees associated with processing 

those transactions. The amount of contribution profit per transaction may vary due to a variety of factors substantially outside of our 

control, including client size, type and industry as well as whether the client is a biller, financial institution or other partner. Contribution 

profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 increased approximately 20.3% and 18.6% 29.6%, 

respectively, as compared to the same periods period in 2022. 2023. The increase was primarily driven by growth in transaction count and 

volume driven by the addition of new billers and financial institutions and increased transactions from our existing billers and financial 

institutions, together with improvements resulting from disinflation in the utility sector on a year over year basis, pricing improvements from 

customers related to our inflation management and implementing the implementation of certain cost improvement measures.

18
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Adjusted Gross Profit

 

Three Months 

Ended September 

30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

 (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

Gross profit $

46,91

0     $

37,85

7     $

132,8

50     $

108,5

39     $ 52,725     $ 40,078  

Stock-based compensation   36       —       110       —       51       45  

Amortization of capitalized 

software development costs   3,493       2,357       9,473       6,088       4,029       2,738  

Amortization of acquisition-

related intangibles   829       829       2,486       2,487       829       829  
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Adjusted gross profit $

51,26

8     $

41,04

3     $

144,9

19     $

117,1

14     $ 57,634     $ 43,690  

Adjusted gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 increased 24.9% and 23.7% 31.9%,

respectively, as compared to the same periods period in 2022. 2023. Adjusted gross profit improved in line with contribution profit. Adjusted 

gross profit as a percentage improved as a result of economies of scale. Adjusted gross profit is driven primarily by the same factors that 

impact gross profit with the exception of excluding the amortization and stock-based compensation recorded in cost of revenue. The 

increase in amortization was driven by additional capitalization of software costs.

Adjusted EBITDA

 

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months 

Ended


September 30,   Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2023     2022     2023     2022   2024     2023  

 (in thousands)   (in thousands)  

Net income (loss) — GAAP $ 6,377     $ (737 )   $

12,

920     $

(1,4

70 )

Net income — GAAP $ 7,226     $ 704  

Interest income, net   (1,905 )     (504 )    

(5,0

03 )    

(59

4 )   (2,186 )     (1,440 )

Other non-recurring income (1)   (213 )     --  

Provision for (benefit from) 

income taxes   822       296      

1,0

04      

(2,3

97 )   3,534       (256 )

Amortization of capitalized 

software development costs   5,473       3,808      

15,

286      

10,

434     6,311       4,693  

Amortization of acquisition-

related intangibles   2,095       2,015      

6,3

59      

6,0

77     2,021       2,224  

Depreciation   204       335       669      

1,0

15     205       322  

EBITDA $ 13,066     $ 5,213     $

31,

235     $

13,

065   $ 16,898     $ 6,247  

                        

Adjustments                        

Foreign exchange loss (gain)   17       28       32       (52 )

Foreign exchange (gain) loss   (18 )     8  

Stock-based compensation   2,456       2,002      

6,8

91      

4,6

22     2,933       2,159  

Other nonrecurring expense (1)   —       769       —       769  

Adjusted EBITDA $ 15,539     $ 8,012     $

38,

158     $

18,

404   $ 19,813     $ 8,414  

____________
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(1) Other nonrecurring expenses consist non-recurring income consists of an estimated liability booked in the three months ended September 30, 

2022 related a remeasurement adjustment relating to the potential costs purchase price of terminating a commercial contract. prior acquisition.

Adjusted EBITDA is a measure of profitability and generally is expected to move in line with revenue, contribution profit, gross profit 

and adjusted gross profit. Adjusted EBITDA increased 93.9% and 107.3% 135.5% in the three and nine months ended September 30, 

2023 March 31, 2024, respectively, as compared to the same periods period in 2022. 2023. The increase was primarily driven by growth in 

transaction count and volume driven by the addition of new billers and financial institutions and increased transactions from our existing 

billers and financial institutions, together with improvements resulting from disinflation in the utility sector on a year over year basis, pricing 

improvements from customers related to our inflation management, and implementing the implementation of certain cost improvement 

measures. measures and lower general and administrative expenditures primarily driven by lower insurance premiums.

Free Cash Flow

 

Three Months Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

 (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

Net cash (used in) provided 

by operating activities $

13,14

3     $ (1,949 )   $

44,38

7     $ 5,143    

Net cash provided by 

operating activities $ 10,954     $ 4,763  

Purchases of property and 

equipment and software   (158 )     (368 )     (511 )    

(1,16

3 )     (116 )     (67 )

Other intangible assets 

acquired   —       (125 )     —       (248 )  

Capitalized software 

development costs  

(8,72

8 )     (7,793 )    

(25,3

39 )    

(22,2

57 )     (9,276 )     (8,219 )

Free cash flow $ 4,257     $

(10,23

5 )   $

18,53

7     $

(18,5

25 )   $ 1,562     $ (3,523 )

Net cash used in investing 

activities $

(8,88

6 )   $ (8,286 )   $

(25,8

50 )   $

(23,6

68 )   $ (9,513 )   $ (8,286 )

Net cash (used in) provided 

by financing activities $ 234     $

18,72

2     $

(1,37

6 )   $

42,94

0    

Net cash used in financing 

activities $ (406 )   $ (1,122 )

The increase in free cash flow for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was driven by 

higher primarily as a result of increases in cash provided by operating activities. generated from operations.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented:

    Three Months Ended March 31,     Change  

    2024     2023     $   %  

    (Dollars in thousands)            

Revenue   $ 184,875     $ 148,328     $ 36,547     24.6 %

Cost of revenue     132,150       108,250       23,900     22.1 %

Gross profit     52,725       40,078       12,647     31.6 %

Gross margin (1)     28.5 %     27.0 %          

Operating expenses                      

Research and development     12,051       11,653       398     3.4 %

Sales and marketing     23,239       20,264       2,975     14.7 %

General and administrative     9,092       9,145       (53 )   (0.6 )%

Total operating expenses     44,382       41,062       3,320     8.1 %

Income (loss) from operations     8,343       (984 )     9,327   n/m  

Other income (expense)                      

Interest income, net     2,186       1,440       746     51.8 %

Other non-recurring income (2)     213       --       213   n/m  

Foreign exchange gain (loss)     18       (8 )     26   n/m  

Income before income taxes     10,760       448       10,312   n/m  

(Provision for) benefit from income taxes     (3,534 )     256       (3,790 ) n/m  

Net income   $ 7,226     $ 704     $ 6,522   n/m  

   

Three Months Ended 

September 30,     Change    

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Change  

    2023     2022     $   %     2023     2022     $   %  

    (Dollars in thousands)            

Revenue   $

152,42

3     $ 128,152     $ 24,271     18.9 %   $

449,6

90     $

364,82

5     $

84,86

5     23.3 %

Cost of revenue    

105,51

3       90,295       15,218     16.9 %    

316,8

40      

256,28

6      

60,55

4     23.6 %

Gross profit     46,910       37,857       9,053     23.9 %    

132,8

50      

108,53

9      

24,31

1     22.4 %

Gross margin (1)     30.8 %     29.5 %               29.5 %     29.8 %          

Operating expenses                                            

Research and development     11,035       10,350       685     6.6 %    

33,59

5       30,925       2,670     8.6 %
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Sales and marketing     21,481       19,048       2,433     12.8 %     63,34

4

      53,089       10,25

5

    19.3 %

General and administrative     9,083       9,376       (293 )   -3.1 %    

26,95

8       29,038      

(2,08

0 )   -7.2 %

Total operating expenses     41,599       38,774       2,825     7.3 %    

123,8

97      

113,05

2      

10,84

5     9.6 %

Income (loss) from operations     5,311       (917 )     6,228   n/m       8,953       (4,513 )    

13,46

6   n/m  

Other income (expense)                                            

Interest income, net     1,905       504       1,401     278.0 %     5,003       594       4,409     742.3 %

Foreign exchange (loss) gain     (17 )     (28 )     11   n/m       (32 )     52       (84 ) n/m  

Income (loss) before income 

taxes     7,199       (441 )     7,640   n/m      

13,92

4       (3,867 )    

17,79

1   n/m  

Benefit from (provision for) 

income taxes     (822 )     (296 )     (526 )   177.7 %     (1,004 )     2,397      

(3,40

1 )   -141.9 %

Net income (loss)   $ 6,377     $ (737 )   $ 7,114   n/m     $

12,92

0     $ (1,470 )   $

14,39

0   n/m  

____________ ________________

n/m - not meaningful

(1) Gross margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue.

(2) Other non-recurring income consists of a remeasurement adjustment relating to the purchase price of a prior acquisition.

The following table presents the components of our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented as a 

percentage of revenue:

  

Three Months 

Ended 

September 30,    

Nine Months 

Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

   2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

                              

Revenue    

100.

0 %    

100.

0 %    

100.

0 %    

100.

0 %     100.0 %     100.0 %

Cost of revenue     69.2 %     70.5 %     70.5 %     70.2 %     71.5 %     73.0 %

Gross profit     30.8 %     29.5 %     29.5 %     29.8 %     28.5 %     27.0 %

Operating 

expenses                            

Research and 

development     7.2 %     8.1 %     7.5 %     8.5 %     6.5 %     7.9 %

Sales and 

marketing     14.1 %     14.9 %     14.1 %     14.6 %     12.6 %     13.7 %

General and 

administrative     6.0 %     7.3 %     6.0 %     8.0 %     4.9 %     6.1 %
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Total operating 

expenses     27.3 %     30.3 %     27.6 %     31.0 %     24.0 %     27.7 %

Income (loss) 

from operations     3.5 %     -0.7 %     1.9 %     -1.2 %     4.5 %     (0.7 )%

Other income 

(expense)                            

Interest income, 

net     1.2 %     0.4 %     1.1 %     0.2 %     1.2 %     1.0 %

Foreign 

exchange (loss) 

gain     0.0 %     0.0 %     0.0 %     0.0 %

Income (loss) 

before income 

taxes     4.7 %     -0.3 %     3.0 %     -1.1 %

Benefit from 

(provision for) 

income taxes     -0.5 %     -0.2 %     -0.2 %     0.7 %

Net income (loss)     4.2 %     -0.6 %     2.8 %     -0.4 %

Other non-

recurring income     0.1 %     0.0 %

Foreign 

exchange gain 

(loss)     0.0 %     0.0 %

Income before 

income taxes     5.8 %     0.3 %

(Provision for) 

benefit from 

income taxes     (1.9 )%     0.2 %

Net income     3.9 %     0.5 %

 

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023

Revenue

The increase in revenue was primarily driven by an increase in the number of transactions processed, which was driven by the 

implementation of new billers and increased transactions from our existing billers. Revenue increase was also driven by pricing 

improvements related to our inflation management.

22 20
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Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The increase in cost of revenue was driven by the increase in revenue and transactions processed, as it consists primarily of 

interchange fees and processor costs, as well as other direct costs associated with making our platform available to our billers. These

higher costs were partially offset by certain cost improvement initiatives.

Gross margin increased due to lower cost of revenues for other direct costs associated with making our platform available to our 

billers by certain cost improvement initiatives and deflation in the utility sector during the quarter ended September 2023.

Gross margin improved for the three months ended September 30, 2023 due to adjusted pricing for certain existing customers, cost 

improvement initiatives and deflation in the utility sector.economies of scale.

Research and Development Expenses

The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to increased amortization cost of capitalized internal-use 

software development costs. costs and an increase in employee-related costs, including benefits due to increased headcount and merit 

increases in annual compensation.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase increased activities in employee-related costs, 

including benefits, as we continued to expand our sales and marketing efforts with additional headcount and increase in order to continue 

to drive our growth. In addition, we incurred increased agency reseller commissions associated with new billers and favorable margin on 

existing billers. including amortization of warrants.

General and Administrative Expenses

The marginal decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to lower costs cost of insurance premiums for our 

directors and officers and commercial and general liability insurance and corporate premiums, lower acquisition related expenses, lower 

commercial contract termination costs, and lower legal expenses, which were offset by higher employee-related costs including 

benefits. increased stock-based compensation expense associated with employee equity grants and professional fees.

Other Income (Expense)

The changes in other income (expense) was were primarily due to the increase in interest income, net as a result of higher cash 

balances held with banks for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the same period in 2023 together with increases in the 

Federal Reserve rates which increased interest income on our government issued securities, which are included in cash and cash 

equivalents on the balance sheet. rates.

Income Taxes

The change in provision for income taxes as well as the increase in the Company's effective tax rate, which was 32.8% for the three 

months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as compared to (57.9)% for the same period in the prior year, was primarily due the 

result of permanent differences for disallowed stock-based compensation pursuant to the change in the pre-tax earnings IRC Section 

162(m), state taxes and the impact of the full valuation allowance.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

The increase in revenue  In 2023, it was primarily driven by an increase in the number of transactions processed, which was driven 

by the implementation of new billers and increased transactions from our existing billers. Revenue increase was also driven by pricing 
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improvements from customers related to our inflation management.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The increase in cost of revenue was driven by the increase in revenue and transactions processed, as it consists primarily of 

interchange fees and processor costs, as well as other direct costs associated with making our platform available to our billers. These

higher costs were partially offset by cost improvements resulting from disinflation in the utility sector and certain cost improvement 

initiatives.

Gross margin decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 due to increases in cost of revenues for other direct costs 

associated with making our platform available to our billers.

Research and Development Expenses

The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to increased amortization cost of capitalized internal-use 

software development costs and an increase in employee-related costs, including benefits due to an increase in headcount as we 

continued to invest in developing and adding additional features and functionality to our platform. Additionally, we incurred increased stock-

based compensation expense associated with routine and new hire grants.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase in employee-related costs, including benefits, as we 

continued to expand our sales and marketing efforts with additional headcount in order to continue to drive our growth. We also incurred 

increased stock-based compensation associated with routine and new hire grants. In addition, we incurred increased agency commission 

associated with new billers and favorable margin on existing billers.

23

General and Administrative Expenses

The decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to slower hiring, lower costs for our directors and officers 

insurance premiums, a reduction in lease costs, lower legal expenses, lower acquisition related expenses and lower commercial contract 

termination costs, which were offset by higher employee-related costs including benefits.

Other Income (Expense)

The changes in other income (expense) was primarily due to the increase in interest income, net as a result of increases in the 

Federal Reserve rates which increased interest near break-even pre-tax income on our government issued securities, which are included 

in cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet.

Income Taxes

The change in provision for income from operations, state taxes for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 as compared to the 

same period in the prior year, was primarily due to the change in the pre-tax earnings and the impact of the full valuation allowance.

allowance and other permanent adjustments in addition to a return to provision benefit recorded in connection with a change in estimate of 

costs required to be capitalized under IRC Section 174.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Funds

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had $162.1 million $180.1 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. We 

believe that existing unrestricted cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to support our working capital and capital expenditure 
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requirements for at least the next 12 months. Since inception, we have financed operations primarily through the sale of equity securities 

and revenue from payment transaction fees and subscriptions. Our principal uses of cash are funding operations and capital expenditures.

From time to time, we may explore additional financing sources and means to lower our cost of capital, which could include equity, 

equity-linked and debt financing. We cannot assure you that any additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. 

The inability to raise capital would adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives. If we raise additional funds by issuing 

equity or equity-linked securities, the ownership of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we raise additional financing by the 

incurrence of indebtedness, we may be subject to increased fixed payment obligations and could be subject to additional restrictive 

covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability 

to conduct our business or execute our growth strategy. Any future indebtedness we incur may result in terms that could be unfavorable to 

equity investors.

21

Historical Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our condensed consolidated cash flows.

  

Nine Months Ended 

September 30,     Three Months Ended March 31,  

   2023     2022     2024     2023  

   (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

 Net cash provided by (used in)                        

Operating activities   $ 44,387     $ 5,143     $ 10,954     $ 4,763  

Investing activities     (25,850 )     (23,668 )     (9,513 )     (8,286 )

Financing activities     (1,376 )     42,940       (406 )     (1,122 )

 Effects of foreign exchange on cash     46       (329 )     (78 )     (17 )

 Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 17,207     $ 24,086  

 Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and 

restricted cash   $ 957     $ (4,662 )

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Our primary source of operating cash is revenue from payment transaction fees. Our primary uses of operating cash are personnel-

related costs, payments to third parties to fulfill our payment transactions and payments to sales and marketing partners. Net cash 

provided by operating activities for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was $44.4 million $11.0 million. Net 

income was $12.9 million $7.2 million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $32.9 million $12.4 million consisting primarily of depreciation and 

amortization, stock-based compensation, amortization of contract assets and non-cash lease expense, which contributed positively to cash 

provided from operating activities. This was decreased by net cash outflows of $1.4 million $8.6 million used by changes in our operating 

assets and liabilities.
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Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 was $5.1 million $4.8 

million. Net loss income was $1.5 million $0.7 million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $22.0 million $10.4 million consisting primarily of 

depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, amortization of contract assets and non-cash lease expense, which contributed 

positively to cash provided from operating activities. This was offset by net cash outflows of $15.5 million used $6.4 million provided by 

changes in our operating assets and liabilities.

24

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 consisted of $25.3 

million $9.3 million of capitalized software development costs, and $0.5 million $0.1 million of purchases of property and 

equipment. equipment and $(0.1) million of net change in interest-bearing deposits.

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 consisted of $22.3 

million $8.2 million of capitalized internal-use software development costs and $1.2 million for $0.1 million of purchases of property and 

equipment.

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 consisted of $1.7 

million $0.5 million of payments on other financing obligations, settlement of holdback liability relating to a prior acquisition, which was 

offset by $0.1 million of payments on finance leases and $0.4 million of proceeds from exercise of stock-based awards by employees.

Net cash provided by used in financing activities for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 consisted of 

an increase in financial institution funds in-transit $1.0 million of $44.2 million payments on other financing obligations and proceeds from 

stock option exercises of $1.5 million, offset by $2.7 million $0.1 million of payments on finance leases leases.

Early Warning of Possible Valuation Allowance Reversal in Future Periods

We recorded a valuation allowance against all of our US deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2024, and other financing 

obligations. December 31, 2023. We intend to continue maintaining a full valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets until there is 

sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all or some portion of these allowances. However, given our current earnings and anticipated 

future earnings, we believe that there is a reasonable possibility that within the next 12 months, sufficient positive evidence may become 

available to allow us to reach a conclusion that a significant portion of the valuation allowance will no longer be needed. Release of the 

valuation allowance would result in the recognition of certain deferred tax assets and a decrease to income tax expense for the period the 

release is recorded. However, the exact timing and amount of the valuation allowance release are subject to change on the basis of the 

level of profitability that we are able to actually achieve.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2, 

“Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our

22
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consolidated financial statements included in our 2022 2023 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in our critical accounting 

policies and estimates since December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 “Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the unaudited condensed consolidated 

financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the 

respective dates of adoption or expected adoption and effects on our condensed consolidated financial statements contained in Item 1 of 

this Quarterly Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

There have been no material changes in our exposures to market risk since December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. For details on 

the Company’s interest rate, foreign currency exchange, and inflation risks, see Part I, Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative Information 

About Market Risk” in our 2022 2023 Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the end of the 

period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, and as 

a result of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at 

the reasonable assurance level. In light of this fact, our management has performed additional analyses, reconciliations, and other post-

closing procedures and has concluded that, notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, the 

unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the periods covered by and included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

fairly state, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with 

GAAP.

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a 

reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As of 

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, our material weaknesses were as follows:

• We lacked a sufficient number of trained professionals with an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, training and experien
appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters, including accounting for capitalized internal-use softw
development costs, identification of reporting units, translation of foreign currency in consolidation, accounting for defe
compensation, calculation of earnings per share and classification of accounts in the financial statements.

25

Additionally, we did not design and maintain effective controls over verifying the appropriate review and approval of journal entrie

• We did not design and maintain effective controls relevant to the preparation of our financial statements with respect to ce
information technology, or IT general controls for information systems. Specifically, we did not design and maintain (1) prog
change management controls to ensure that IT program and data changes affecting certain IT applications and under
accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately; and (2) user access controls to en
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appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to financial applications, programs
data to appropriate company personnel.

Remediation Plan

We believe we have made significant progress toward towards remediation of the material weaknesses described above. We have 

completed the following remediation measures:

• onboarded experienced finance and accounting professionals at various senior roles;

• updated the design of our general ledger accounting system to allow for effective restricted access and segregation of dutie
govern the preparation and review of journal entries;

• implemented management review controls over journal entries and the identification and review of complex transactions;

• secured the general ledger accounting system by implementing Single Sign-On single sign-on (SSO); and

23

• implemented additional change management and access controls for our relevant IT applications to further restrict privileged acc

Additional remediation measures are ongoing access and include the following:

• implementing implemented controls to review activities, which may materially affect our financial statements, for those u
who have privileged access; and

• continuing to hire additional personnel with public company experience for our accounting and finance function. access.

We are currently in the process of assessing the effectiveness of design and implementation of controls to address all material 

weaknesses. Upon completing this assessment, thorough operating effectiveness testing will be performed to ensure that the implemented 

controls operated effectively for a sufficient period of time. While we believe these efforts will remediate the material weaknesses, these 

material weaknesses cannot be considered fully remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time 

and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There Other than continuing to make progress on the ongoing remediation efforts described above, there were no changes in our 

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the three months 

ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control 

over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent 

or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 

controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. The 

design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no 

assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

50/65

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the 

inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in claims, regulatory examinations or investigations and legal proceedings arising in the 

ordinary course of our business. The outcome of any such claims or proceedings, regardless of the merits, and the Company’s ultimate 

liability, if any, is inherently uncertain. Furthermore, we may become subject to stockholder inspection demands under Delaware law and 

derivative or other similar litigation. We are not currently party to any material legal proceedings, and we are not aware of any pending or 

threatened legal proceeding against us that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows 

or financial condition.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

There have been no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A. of our 2022 2023 Form 10-K and our 

subsequent Form 10-Qs. 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, none of the Company’s directors or officers adopted or terminated a 

“Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as such terms are defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S‑K.
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* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this report are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Paymentus Holdings, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this report, irrespective of any 

general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 

behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 

PAYMENTUS HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: November 6, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Dushyant Sharma

Dushyant Sharma

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

      (Principal Executive Officer)

 

Date: November 6, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Sanjay Kalra

      Sanjay Kalra

      Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

      (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

 

I, Dushyant Sharma, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paymentus Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financ
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchang
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have:

(a)	 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)	 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
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external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)	 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)	 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 

materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)	 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)	 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 

over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Dushyant Sharma

Dushyant Sharma

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

      (Principal Executive Officer)

       

 

 

 

Exhibit 31.2

 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Sanjay Kalra, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paymentus Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

62/65

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financ
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchang
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have:

(a)	 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)	 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)	 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)	 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 

materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)	 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)	 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 

over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Sanjay Kalra

Sanjay Kalra

      Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

      (Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paymentus Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the three months period ended September 

30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 

as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company as of and for the periods presented in the Report.

Date: November 6, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Dushyant Sharma

Dushyant Sharma

Chairman, President and,

      Chief Executive Officer

      (Principal Executive Officer)

 

 

 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paymentus Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the three months period ended September 

30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 

as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the
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(2)  
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company as of and for the periods presented in the Report.

Date: November 6, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Sanjay Kalra

Sanjay Kalra

      Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

      (Principal Financial Officer)
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